

Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Clinica Chimica Acta 363 (2006) 48-60

Review

EUROPEAN JOURNAL OF INTERNAL MEDICINE

www.elsevier.com/locate/clinchim

Real-time assays with molecular beacons and other fluorescent nucleic acid hybridization probes

Salvatore A.E. Marras, Sanjay Tyagi, Fred Russell Kramer*

Department of Molecular Genetics, Public Health Research Institute, 225 Warren Street, Newark, NJ 07103, USA

Received 3 April 2005; received in revised form 22 April 2005; accepted 27 April 2005 Available online 18 August 2005

Abstract

Background: A number of formats for nucleic acid hybridization have been developed to identify DNA and RNA sequences that are involved in cellular processes and that aid in the diagnosis of genetic and infectious diseases.

Methods: The introduction of hybridization probes with interactive fluorophore pairs has enabled the development of homogeneous hybridization assays for the direct identification of nucleic acids. A change in the fluorescence of these probes indicates the presence of a target nucleic acid, and there is no need to separate unbound probes from hybridized probes.

Conclusions: The advantages of homogeneous hybridization assays are their speed and simplicity. In addition, homogeneous assays can be combined with nucleic acid amplification, enabling the detection of rare target nucleic acids. These assays can be followed in real time, providing quantitative determination of target nucleic acids over a broad range of concentrations. © 2005 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Keywords: Nucleic acid hybridization; Real-time gene amplification assays; Fluorescence energy transfer; Molecular beacons; Fluorescent nucleic acid hybridization probes

Contents

1.	Introduction.	49
2.	Early nucleic acid hybridization formats	49
3.	Amplification of targets	49
4.	Detection of amplified targets	50
5.	Molecular beacon probes.	50
6.	Other detection methods	56
	6.1. Adjacent probes	56
	6.2. 5'-Nuclease probes	56
	6.3. Light-up probes	56
	6.4. Duplex scorpion primers	57
	6.5. Amplifluor primers	57
	6.6. Alternative fluorescent hybridization probe formats.	57
7.	Future trends	57
Ack	nowledgements	58
Refe	rences	58

* Corresponding author. Tel.: +1 973 854 3370; fax: +1 973 854 3371. *E-mail address:* kramer@phri.org (F.R. Kramer).

1. Introduction

Nucleic acid hybridization is a process whereby a DNA or RNA strand forms an ordered series of hydrogen bonds with its complement, creating a duplex structure. A nucleic acid can identify its complement in a large population of unrelated nucleic acid sequences. The hybrids that are formed are the strongest and most specific macromolecular complexes known. By selecting nucleic acid sequences that are complementary to a target sequence, nucleic acid probes can be designed for the detection of any gene. The applications range from the estimation of similarity between species to the detection of single nucleotide polymorphisms. Nucleic acid hybridization is used to explore complex cellular pathways, for the diagnosis of genetic and infectious diseases and to provide information on the storage, transfer and expression of genetic information in living cells. Aided by the sequencing of the human genome, the development of novel nucleic acid probes has focused on speed, reliability and accuracy in the identification of nucleic acids. In addition, advances in research on pathogenic infections and the characterization of microbes have resulted in a rise in the demand for molecular diagnostic assays.

2. Early nucleic acid hybridization formats

In 1961, in order to answer the question: "Is the RNA synthesized after infection with T2 bacteriophage complementary to T2 DNA?", Spiegelman and Hall developed the basis of a technique now known as nucleic acid hybridization. In their study, DNA isolated from singlestranded T2 bacteriophage was mixed with RNA from T2-infected Escherichia coli, and the hybrids were isolated by equilibrium-density gradient centrifugation [1]. The next year, Bolton and McCarthy developed the first simple solid-phase hybridization method [2]. In their method, denatured DNA was immobilized in agar and hybridized to radioactively labeled RNA. In the subsequent washing step, RNA not hybridized to other nucleic acids was removed. The bound RNA was then eluted from the agar by lowering the salt concentration of the elution solution. The radioactivity of the eluent was then shown to be proportional to the fraction of the RNA bound to complements. This method was optimized further by using nitrocellulose membranes as supports on which the hybrids were immobilized [3-5]. The first applications of nucleic acid hybridization were limited to the detection of abundant target nucleic acids. In addition, the preparation of large amount of nucleic acid probes, which is necessary to carry out the hybridization experiments, was difficult and time consuming. In 1975, after the discovery of restriction endonucleases [6] and molecular cloning [7], it became possible to measure both the quantity and the size of specific hybridized DNA and RNA sequences. DNA samples incubated with restriction enzymes were fractionated by gel electrophoresis and then transferred to a nitrocellulose membrane. DNA restriction fragments, containing a specific nucleic acid sequence, were identified by hybridization with labeled nucleic acid probes. This technique, called "Southern blotting", was further developed by and named after Ed Southern [8]. An analogous filter hybridization technique, where RNA is separated by gel electrophoresis, transferred to a membrane and identified by hybridization with a labeled nucleic acid probe, is termed "Northern blotting" [9]. The introduction of sequencing technologies enabled the analysis of the exact composition of the nucleic acids used, increasing the specificity of nucleic acid hybridization [10,11]. Besides being useful in filter hybridization, nucleic acid probes are useful for the detection of nucleic acids within cells and tissues. In these methods, referred to as in situ hybridization, the nucleic acid probe is labeled with a reporter molecule and the sites of hybridization are visualized by microscopy. As with filter hybridization, the earliest phase of in situ hybridization relied on autoradiographic detection of abundant sequences [12,13]. Autoradiographic detection, however, was limited by poor resolution and also lacked the ability to distinguish more than one nucleic acid target simultaneously. In addition, the technique is often time consuming, requiring several weeks before results can be obtained. To overcome these limitations, non-autoradiographic detection methods were developed. The earliest non-autoradiographic techniques used antibodies to recognize RNA-DNA hybrids or used avidin to detect bound biotin-labeled nucleic acid probes [14-16]. Later, methods for the chemical modification of nucleotides and for the recognition of these modified nucleotides by fluorescent molecules, gold particles or enzymatic reporter molecules were developed, increasing assay sensitivity [17]. The introduction of fluorescent dyes as labels for nucleic acid probes, such as derivatives of fluorescein, rhodamine, or Texas red, provided high resolution with the light microscope. One of the biggest advantages of fluorescent probes is that they enable multicolor fluorescence in situ hybridization to detect multiple nucleotide sequences simultaneously [18].

3. Amplification of targets

In clinical diagnostic applications, the total amount of target nucleic acid in a sample is often very low, and therefore the signal generated by the hybridization of specific probes is often not detectable. For example, since only a few copies of the viral pathogen HIV-1 in blood can cause AIDS, it is desirable to have the ability to detect them soon after infection. In order to overcome the limitation in sensitivity of nucleic acid probes, schemes for target amplification have been developed.

The most widely used target amplification technique is the polymerase chain reaction (PCR). This technique, which was first described by Mullis et al. [20] and Saiki et al. in 1985 [19], has made it possible to detect and quantitate rare target nucleic acid sequences isolated from cell, tissue or blood samples. The basis of this technique is the ability of DNA polymerase to extend an oligodeoxyribonucleotide primer that is specifically hybridized to a single-stranded DNA template. PCR consists of three thermally separated steps: denaturation at 95 °C to ensure complete separation of DNA duplexes into single-stranded molecules; annealing at a temperature below 65 °C to allow the primers to hybridize to the DNA template; and extension at 72 °C to allow the synthesis of complementary DNA strands by DNA polymerase. Repeating this cycle of three steps allows the newly formed DNA molecules, as well as the existing DNA molecules to serve as templates for a new round of primer hybridization and extension. Multiple rounds of thermal cycling result in an exponential accumulation of PCR products. In 30 thermal cycles, a 10⁸-fold amplification of the target sequence can be achieved. There is a quantitative relationship between the number of target nucleic acid strands initially present in a sample and the number of product strands synthesized at any given thermal cycle. Alternatively, an initial reverse transcription reaction can be used to generate cDNA from a target mRNA, and the resulting cDNA can then be amplified in a polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR).

Strand displacement amplification (SDA) is an alternative technique for the amplification of DNA molecules. Unlike PCR, SDA is an isothermal process in which the thermal separation of newly synthesized strands from their templates is replaced by an isothermal enzymatic step [21]. The primers used in SDA contain a restriction endonuclease recognition site, and nicks are produced in hybridized primers by a restriction enzyme. In SDA, newly synthesized strands are phosphorothiolated, due to the presence of alpha-thiolated nucleotide triphosphates in the reaction mixture, and single-stranded nicks are produced in the primers, rather than in the template strands, by the restriction enzyme. These single-stranded nicks serve as priming sites for a 5'-nuclease-deficient DNA polymerase. As the DNA polymerase proceeds along the template, it displaces the nicked strand, generating an intact molecule that can serve as template for further amplification.

Another isothermal method for amplifying rare target RNA sequences is nucleic acid sequence based amplification (NASBA), or the very similar transcription-mediated amplification (TMA). The basis of this technique, first described by Guatelli et al. [22], is the incorporation of a T7-promotor sequence during cDNA synthesis with the help of a reverse transcription reaction. This step is followed by transcription of the cDNA product with T7 RNA polymerase, generating 10 to 1000 RNA copies of each cDNA product. Product accumulation is exponential, since the newly synthesized cDNAs and RNAs serve as templates for a continuous series of reverse transcription and direct transcription reactions. This method is able to generate in 90 min as many as 10⁹ copies of each RNA target molecule that was initially present in the reaction [23].

The ligase chain reaction (LCR) is another DNA amplification method. In this method, two oligonucleotides are hybridized next to each other on a DNA target. DNA ligase only joins the 3' and 5' ends of the two oligonucleotides if their ends are perfectly complementary to the template strands. Ligated oligonucleotides are then amplified by thermal cycling [24]. LCR has better allelic specificity than PCR because of the greater discriminatory properties of ligation compared to primer extension [25].

4. Detection of amplified targets

The classic method for analyzing the products of target amplification involves separating the amplification products by gel electrophoresis and then visualizing the products by either filter hybridization with a nucleic acid probe, direct incorporation of a radioisotope into the amplification product, or the addition of an intercalating agent that becomes fluorescent upon binding to double-stranded nucleic acids. Although these methods can provide useful information on the size, identity and quantity of the amplification products, there are limitations. The main disadvantage of using these methods is the risk of contaminating untested samples, since the amplification products have to be transferred from the reaction solution to a gel matrix for electrophoretic analysis [26]. In addition, the synthesis of non-specific amplification products can be significant when the targets are rare or absent and the sample contains an abundant and diverse nucleic acid population. In these situations, there is an increased chance that amplification will be initiated from unintended sequences, resulting in non-specific amplification products being the primary reaction products.

5. Molecular beacon probes

In order to simplify the detection of amplified products and to perform the detection in sealed tubes in real time, Sanjay Tyagi and Fred Russell Kramer have developed hairpin-shaped nucleic acid hybridization probes that undergo a conformational reorganization when they bind to their target that causes them to fluoresce brightly. These probes are called "molecular beacons" [27] (Fig. 1A). Molecular beacons are single-stranded oligonucleotides possessing a probe sequence that is usually 15 to 30 nucleotides in length. The probe sequence is chosen to be complementary to a specific target sequence that is present in the nucleic acid to be detected. The probe sequence is imbedded within "arm" sequences at either end of the



Fig. 1. Schematic representation of fluorescence signal generation with different nucleic acid hybridization probes.

oligonucleotide. The arm sequences are usually 5 or 6 nucleotides long. There is no relationship between the probe sequence and the two arm sequences. However, the sequences of the arms are chosen so that they are complementary to one another and are composed mostly of guanosines and cytidines. Consequently, under assay conditions, molecular beacons can form a hairpin structure, in which the arm sequences are bound to each other forming a hairpin stem and the probe sequence is located in the hairpin loop. A fluorophore is covalently linked to one end of the oligonucleotide and a non-fluorescent quencher moiety is covalently linked to the other end of the oligonucleotide. The stem hybrid brings the fluorophore and quencher into close

proximity, allowing energy from the fluorophore to be transferred directly to the quencher through static quenching. In static quenching, the donor and acceptor molecules can interact by proton-coupled electron transfer through the formation of hydrogen bonds. When this complex absorbs light, the excited state immediately returns to the ground state without emission of a photon. When a molecular beacon encounters a target molecule, it forms a relatively rigid probe-target hybrid that is longer and more stable than the stem hybrid. The rigidity of the probe-target hybrid prevents the simultaneous existence of the stem hybrid. The molecular beacon therefore undergoes a spontaneous conformational reorganization that forces the stem hybrid to dissociate and the fluorophore and the quencher to move away from each other, restoring fluorescence.

In practice, the length of the probe sequence is chosen so that it will form a stable hybrid with its target sequence at assay temperatures, whereas the arm sequences are chosen so that they will form a stable stem hybrid when there is no target present. The kinetics of molecular beacon hybridization are second order. In an assay in which there are more probes available than target molecules, molecular beacon fluorescence is proportional to the amount of target present. The amount of fluorescent light emitted by a molecular beacon when it is bound to its target is typically 100 times as bright as the amount of light given off when it is free in solution. This extraordinary increase is due to the extremely low background signal emitted by molecular beacons, rather than to their fluorescence being especially bright.

Molecular beacons can possess differently colored fluorophores, enabling assays to be carried out that simultaneously detect different targets in the same reaction [28]. Moreover, all differently colored molecular beacons can possess the same nonfluorescent quencher [29]. Recently, new non-fluorescent quenchers have been introduced [30,31]. Fig. 2 is a photograph showing 12 test tubes that all contain the same molecular beacon at the same concentration. The only difference between the tubes is that the molecular beacons in each pair of tubes possessed differently colored fluorophores at their 5' ends. All of the molecular beacons possessed dabcyl at their 3' ends, which serves as a universal quencher. When an excess of complementary target oligonucleotides was added to one tube of each pair, the molecular beacons in that tube fluoresced brightly in the characteristic color of their attached fluorophore. Tubes without targets remained dark. Thus, irrespective of the identity of their fluorophore, molecular beacons are dark in the absence of target and fluoresce brightly in the characteristic fluorescent color of their fluorophore when bound to target.

Similar to other fluorescent hybridization probes, molecular beacons enhance the overall specificity of PCR assays. Molecular beacons are added to PCR assays prior to the initiation of synthesis, at the same time the primers are added, and at approximately the same concentration as the primers (Fig. 3). Their target sequence is located at an internal site within one of the two complementary strands of the intended amplicon, away from the terminal sequences where the primers bind. The assay tube is then permanently sealed, and repetitive temperature cycling is begun. At the high temperature setting in each PCR cycle (approximately 95 °C), when the complementary amplicon strands are melted apart, the stem hybrids of the molecular beacons also melt apart, and all of the molecular beacons become fluorescent. As the temperature is lowered (<65 °C) to permit annealing of the primers to the separated amplicon strands, two different things happen to the molecular beacons. The first event, which occurs quickly is the reformation of the stem hybrids, resulting in the return of the molecular beacons to a darkened state, occurs quickly once the temperature has cooled below the melting temperature of the stem. The second event, which occurs over a period of seconds once the annealing temperature is reached, is the hybridization of the molecular beacons to any target amplicon strands that are present, resulting in conformational reorganization of the bound molecular beacons, and the generation of fluorescence. Since the molecular beacons (like the primers) are present at a higher concentration than the amplicons, fluorescence intensity at the end of the annealing stage of each amplification cycle is directly proportional to the number of amplicons present. During the last stage of each PCR cycle, when the temperature is raised (approximately 72 °C) to promote DNA synthesis, the temperature is too high for the molecular beacons to remain on their target sequences, so the molecular beacons fall off of their targets and do not interfere with polymerization. Spectrofluorometric thermal cyclers enable many different PCR assays containing molecular beacons to be carried out simultaneously in sealed tubes. The fluorescence intensity of the molecular beacons in each reaction tube is automatically measured at the end of the annealing stage of each thermal cycle.

Fig. 4 shows the results of a series of PCR reactions, each reaction was initiated with a different number of target strands, and each reaction was monitored in real time with molecular beacons. A control reaction that lacked target strands did not develop fluorescence. The results illustrate how quantitative measurements are made in real-time PCR assays: the fewer the number of target strands initially present in a sample, the more thermal cycles are needed before there are sufficient amplicons present to generate a significant fluorescence signal. The number of thermal cycles needed to generate a significant signal (the "threshold cycle") is inversely proportional to the logarithm of the number of target strands initially present in the sample.

To demonstrate the use of molecular beacons in extremely sensitive, high-throughput, clinical tests, an assay was developed for the detection of retroviral nucleic acids in blood samples and in tissues for transplantation [32].



Fig. 2. Differently labeled molecular beacons.



Fig. 3. Schematic representation of the hybridization of molecular beacons to amplification products during polymerase chain reactions.



Fig. 4. Real-time measurement of amplification products during polymerase chain reactions using molecular beacons. Seven reactions, each initiated with a different number of template molecules, were incubated simultaneously in a spectrofluorometric thermal cycler. The concentration of the amplicons present after each cycle of amplification was determined by measuring fluorescence during the last few seconds of the annealing step. The number of thermal cycles needed to generate a significant signal (the "threshold cycle") is inversely proportional to the logarithm of the number of target strands initially present in the sample.

A multiplex PCR assay was developed that uses four differently colored, mismatch-tolerant, molecular beacons for the simultaneous detection of amplicons generated from unique sequences found in four different pathogenic retroviruses. The assay contained four compatible sets of PCR primers that are specific for the gag gene of HIV-1, the env gene of HIV-2, the tax gene of HTLV-I, and the pol gene of HTLV-II. Each of the four molecular beacons was designed to hybridize to a more or less conserved sequence within one of the four amplicons. To allow the molecular beacons to form stable hybrids, even if there are polymorphisms in the target sequences, the probe sequence in each molecular beacon was increased in length. The HIV-1, fluorescein-labeled, molecular beacon probe was designed to detect HIV-1 subtypes A, B, C, D, F, and G. The HIV-2, tetrachlorofluorescein-labeled, molecular beacon probe was designed to detect HIV-2 subtypes A, D, and SD. The HTLV-I, tetramethylrhodamine-labeled, molecular beacon probe was designed to detect all HTLV-I subtypes; and the HTLV-II, rhodamine-labeled, molecular probe was designed to detect HTLV-II subtypes A and B. Fig. 5 shows that the individual retroviruses could be distinguished from one another in a multiplex format. Four reactions carried out in parallel were initiated with 100,000 molecules of one of the four retroviral DNAs. Each reaction contained all four molecular beacons and all four primer pairs (one pair for each retrovirus). The only significant fluorescence that appeared in the course of the amplification reactions carried out in each assay tube was fluorescence from the molecular beacon that was complementary to the sequence of the retroviral DNA that was originally added to the assay mixture. No significant fluorescence developed in a control assay that did not contain any template DNA. These results demonstrated that each molecular beacon is specific for its intended target amplicon.

Molecular beacons can be designed that are so specific that they only form hybrids with target sequences that are perfectly complementary to the probe sequence. The presence of even a single nucleotide substitution in the target prevents hybridization. Consequently, these molecular beacons can discriminate genetic alleles and can identify the presence of single nucleotide polymorphisms. The key to designing allele-discriminating molecular beacons is to utilize a short embedded probe sequence that is just long enough to form a perfectly complementary hybrid, yet is too short to form a stable hybrid containing a mismatched basepair. Because of their hairpin structure, allele-discriminating molecular beacons are significantly more specific than corresponding conventional linear probes [33]. The rules for designing allele-discriminating molecular beacons for PCR assays are very simple [34]. The length and sequence of the probe (without the arm sequences) should be chosen to be long enough (and strong enough) to form perfectly complementary probe-target hybrids at the PCR annealing temperature, yet be short enough (and weak enough) for the probe-target hybrids to dissociate at a temperature that is 7-8 °C higher than the annealing temperature. Similarly, the length and sequence of the arms should be chosen to be long enough (and strong enough) to form hairpin stems (in the absence of targets) at the annealing temperature, yet be short enough (and weak enough) for the hairpin stems to dissociate at a temperature that is 7-8 °C higher than the annealing temperature. When molecular beacons are designed in this manner and are observed at the PCR annealing temperature, unbound probes are dark, perfectly complementary probes form brightly fluorescent probe-target hybrids, and mismatched probes remain unbound and dark.

The following experiment illustrates the extraordinary specificity of allele-discriminating molecular beacons [35]. Four template DNAs were prepared that had identical nucleotide sequences, except for one position, which was either an adenosine, a cytidine, a guanosine, or a thymidine. Four molecular beacons were prepared, each perfectly complementary to one of the four template DNAs in the region where the variable nucleotide was located, and each labeled with a differently colored fluorophore. The length of the probe sequence within each of these molecular beacons was chosen to be as short as possible. Four PCR assays were then prepared, each of which contained all four molecular beacons, and each of which contained only one of the four template DNAs. The results obtained from these assays are



Fig. 5. Real-time detection of retroviral DNAs in a multiplex format. Fluorescence from HIV-1-specific molecular beacons is plotted in green; fluorescence from HIV-2-specific molecular beacons is plotted in red; and fluorescence from HTLV-I-specific molecular beacons is plotted in red; and fluorescence from HTLV-I-specific molecular beacons is plotted in blue.

shown in Fig. 6. In each case, only the perfectly complementary molecular beacon bound to the amplicons. The other three molecular beacons in each tube did not bind to the amplicons and did not fluoresce. Thus, the color of the fluorescence signal reliably identified which nucleotide was present at the variable position in the target sequence. These results demonstrated that molecular beacons can distinguish sequence differences as small as a single nucleotide substitution. Fig. 7 shows the results of an experiment that illustrates how well-designed, allele-discriminating molecular beacons behave. The fluorescence of a solution containing one of the molecular beacons used in the experiment shown in Fig. 6 was measured as a function of temperature in a spectrofluorometer. In the absence of targets, at low temperatures, the molecular beacons were dark. However, as the temperature was slowly raised, the hairpin stems of more and more of the molecular beacons dissociated, separating their fluorophore from their quencher, resulting in an increase in fluorescence. The stems of half of the molecular beacons were dissociated by 65 °C. In the presence of an excess of a perfectly complementary target at low temperatures, the molecular beacons formed probe-target hybrids and fluoresced brightly. However, as the temperature was raised, the probe-target hybrids became less and less stable, and eventually dissociated, resulting in the return of the molecular beacons to their darkened state. Half of the perfectly complementary probetarget hybrids were dissociated by 55 °C. Similarly, in the presence of an excess of targets possessing a single nucleotide substitutions, the molecular beacons formed brightly fluorescent probe-target hybrids. However, as the temperature was raised, the mismatched probe-target hybrids dissociated at a significantly lower temperature (approximately 45 °C) than the perfectly complementary probe-target hybrids. Consequently, at the annealing temperature of the PCR assay for which this molecular beacon was designed (50 °C) unbound probes are dark, perfectly complementary probes form brightly fluorescent probe-target hybrids, and mismatched probes remain unbound and dark.



Fig. 7. Characterization of an allele-specific molecular beacon in the presence of either wild-type target (green line), mutant target (blue line), or no target (red line). The state of the molecular beacons at different temperatures indicated by diagrams over the thermal denaturation profiles. The melting temperature of the mismatched hybrid was 10 °C below the melting temperature of the perfectly matched hybrid. Optimal discrimination was achieved at the center of this temperature range. Therefore, in this example 50 °C was chosen to be the annealing temperature of the PCR assay.

Simple, robust and high-throughput molecular beaconbased real-time PCR assays for the detection of infectious agents [36,37], for genetic screening [38], and for mRNA quantitation [39] have been developed. Molecular beacons are able to monitor the progress of any amplification reaction where either single-stranded or double-stranded nucleic acids are formed. They do not interfere with the activity of the DNA or RNA polymerases used. Real-time monitoring of the synthesis of DNA or RNA sequences has also been reported for NASBA [40], rolling circle amplification [41], and isothermal ramification amplification [42]. Another area in which the darkness of unbound molecular beacons is particularly useful is for the observation of specific mRNAs in living cells and in developing embryos, where removal of unbound probes cannot be accomplished without killing the cells [43,44]. Other studies use molecular beacons to measure enzymatic activities [45-49], duplex and triplex



Fig. 6. Multiplex detection of single nucleotide variations in real-time PCR assays. Four differently colored, allele-discriminating molecular beacons were present in each reaction. Fluorescence from the molecular beacons that were perfectly complementary to the target containing an adenosine in the variable position is plotted in green; fluorescence from the corresponding "cytidine-specific" probes is plotted in orange; fluorescence from the "guanosine-specific" probes is plotted in red; and fluorescence from the "thymidine-specific" probes is plotted in blue. The color of the fluorescence that developed in each reaction identified the variant nucleotide that was present in the template DNA. No fluorescence developed in a control reaction that did contain template DNA.

formation in nucleic acids [50-52], and interactions between proteins and nucleic acids [53-56]. Recently, aptamer molecular beacons have been developed for the specific detection of proteins [57,58]. Molecular beacons are also being explored for use as immobilized probes on selfreporting DNA arrays and DNA biosensors [59-62].

6. Other detection methods

There are several other methods that have been developed to detect amplified targets in sealed tubes in real time. Fig. 1 presents a schematic overview of these methods.

6.1. Adjacent probes

Based on the earlier work of Cardullo et al., "adjacent probe" assays utilize two oligonucleotides that bind to neighboring sites on a target [63] (Fig. 1B). One probe is labeled with a fluorescent donor moiety at its 3' end, and the other probe is labeled with a fluorescent acceptor moiety at its 5' end. The distance between the two probes, once they are hybridized, is chosen such that efficient fluorescence resonance energy transfer (FRET) can take place from the donor to the acceptor. In this non-radiative process, a photon from one molecule, the "donor", raises the energy state of an electron in another molecule, the "acceptor", to higher vibrational levels of the excited singlet state. As a result, the energy level of the donor molecule returns to the ground state without emitting fluorescence and the acceptor fluorophore will emit fluorescence in its own specific color. This mechanism is dependent on the dipole orientations of the molecules and is limited by the distance between the donor and the acceptor molecule. Typical effective distances between the donor and acceptor molecules are in the 10 to 100 Å range [64]. This is roughly the distance between 3 and 30 nucleotides in the double helix of a DNA molecule. Another requirement is that the fluorescence emission spectrum of the donor must overlap the absorption spectrum of the acceptor. Therefore, no energy transfer should occur when the two probes are apart from each other and are free in solution. Upon hybridization of the oligonucleotides, energy transfer is measured by the decrease in donor fluorescence or the increase in acceptor fluorescence. Wittwer et al. showed that the use of adjacent probes could be combined with rapid-cycle DNA amplification [65]. The use of adjacent probes has also been demonstrated for the detection of specific mRNAs in living cells [66]. A benefit of this approach is higher specificity, as two probes, rather than one, must bind to the target in order to generate a change in the fluorescence signal.

6.2. 5'-Nuclease probes

Utilizing the inherent 5' to 3' nuclease activity of *Taq* DNA polymerase, Pamela Holland and her colleagues

described a method in which linear DNA probes, called "5'-nuclease probes" (also known as "TaqMan probes"), are cleaved upon specific hybridization to accumulating PCR products [67]. In order to utilize these probes for the real-time monitoring of amplification reactions, Kenneth Livak and his colleagues labeled the probes with a donor fluorophore on one end and an acceptor fluorophore on the other end that interact with each other by FRET [68] (Fig. 1C). Probes that are free in solution transfer energy from the donor fluorophore to the acceptor fluorophore, resulting in a low fluorescence signal from the donor fluorophore. The probe is designed to hybridize at the same time as the PCR primer to one strand of a DNA molecule. When Taq DNA polymerase extends the primer, the polymerase encounters the probe, and as a result of its 5'-nuclease activity, it cleaves the probe. Cleavage of the probe results in the separation of the donor and acceptor from each other, leading to an increase in the intensity of the fluorescence signal from the donor fluorophore. With each cycle of amplification, additional fluorophores are cleaved from their probes, and the increasing fluorescence intensity is monitored during the extension step of each PCR cycle. 5'-Nuclease assays are designed to amplify relatively short amplification products (75 to 150 basepairs); the primer melting temperature (T_m) is chosen to be between 58 and 60 °C; and the probe-target $T_{\rm m}$ is chosen to be between 65 and 67 °C. Using these guidelines, Livak showed that 2 allelic variants can be detected using the 5'-nuclease assay [69]. 5'-Nuclease probes have been widely employed for highthroughput amplification assays, utilizing a 96-well or 384well thermal cycler that monitors fluorescence in real time. One of the first quantitative real-time RT-PCR assays to detect small copies of HCV RNA used 5'-nuclease probes [70]. Recently, in order to increase accuracy in single nucleotide polymorphism detection, a modified 5'-nuclease probe containing a minor groove binder was introduced to increase the difference in stability between perfectly complementary probe-target hybrids and mismatched probe-target hybrids [71].

6.3. Light-up probes

"Light-up probes" are short peptide nucleic acids (PNA) to which the cyanine dye thiazole orange is linked [72]. Thiazole orange fluorescence increases almost 50-fold upon hybridization to a complementary nucleic acid (Fig. 1D). This increase in fluorescence occurs when the rotation around the bond between the aromatic system of thiazole orange is restricted, which eliminates a way for non-radiative decay to occur [73]. A PNA molecule is a chemically modified nucleic acid in which the entire sugar-phosphate backbone is replaced by a polyamide structure [74]. The resulting polyamide contains all four natural bases, enabling it to hybridize to complementary oligonucleotide targets. PNA was used for light-up probes because of its good hybridization properties and because the binding of thiazole

orange to its linked nucleic acid sequence is minimal in PNA, reducing background fluorescence. Light-up probes, which are not fluorescent when they are free in solution, are useful for monitoring amplification reactions, as reported for real-time PCRs [75]. In addition, they can be used for the identification of specific mRNAs in living cells [76].

6.4. Duplex scorpion primers

In order to increase the speed of hybridization in amplification reactions, David Whitcombe et al. introduced "scorpion primers" [77], which later were modified and named "duplex scorpion primers" [78]. Duplex scorpion primers consist of a primer linked to a probe sequence, which has a fluorophore attached at its 5' end. The probe sequence is annealed to a complementary oligonucleotide sequence with a quencher at its 3' end. The probe sequence is designed to hybridize to a target sequence in the extension product of the primer. In a solution in which no target sequence is present, the fluorophore in the probe sequence and the quencher in the complementary sequence are in close proximity, resulting in static quenching of the fluorophore, and fluorescence is low. When the probe sequence hybridizes to its target sequence, a more stable probe-target hybrid is formed, forcing the probe sequence and the complementary sequence to unfold, separating the fluorophore from the quencher, thus restoring fluorescence (Fig. 1E). The primer sequence and the probe sequence are linked through a moiety that prevents the probe sequence from being copied by the DNA polymerase. Extension would lead to displacement of the complementary oligonucleotide possessing the quencher, resulting in an increase in fluorescence (for example in cases where unintended priming occurs, such as primer-dimer formation.) Since duplex scorpion primers depend on the extension of an oligonucleotide primer to generate a signal, they are most suited for monitoring real-time PCR assays [79].

6.5. Amplifluor primers

Nazarenko et al. introduced a method for the direct detection of amplification products. They describe labeled hairpin-primers, called "amplifluor primers," that are directly incorporated into amplification products [80] (Fig. 1F). In this method, a hairpin structure is present at the 5' end of one of the oligonucleotide primers. The hairpin structure contains a fluorophore and quencher moiety in the hairpin stem. Hairpin-primers that are not incorporated into an amplification product do not generate a fluorescence signal, because the hairpin structure keeps the reporter and quencher in close proximity. During amplification, hairpinprimers are incorporated into the double-stranded amplification products. These primers generate a fluorescence signal because they are linearized by further amplification. When the primers are linearized, the fluorophore and quencher are no longer in close proximity, and fluorescence is restored. A disadvantage of this method is that hairpinprimers can generate "false" amplicons or primer-dimers, resulting in false-positive fluorescence signals. Recently, a multiplex real-time PCR assay, utilizing amplifluor primers, was reported [81]. Another report describes an end-point assay in which amplifluor primers were incorporated during rolling circle amplification [82]. Modified amplifluor primers are used to monitor the accumulation of products in a strand displacement assay [83].

6.6. Alternative fluorescent hybridization probe formats

In addition to probes described earlier, new types of hybridization probes are being introduced continuously. At this moment, they are not as widely used as the probes discussed above. Most of these nucleic acid probes are modifications of previously developed hybridization probes and are now being explored for their specific use in nucleic acid detection. For example, "HyBeacons" are singlestranded oligonucleotides that lack significant secondary structure, in which a fluorophore is quenched by an internal nucleotide. When the probe binds to a nucleic acid, its conformation changes, and as a result, the fluorescence intensity of the fluorophore increases [84]. Another method utilizes "Yin-yang probes," which are probes consisting of two complementary oligodeoxyribonucleotides of different lengths, one labeled with a fluorophore, and the other labeled with a quencher [85]. When hybridized to each other, the fluorophore and quencher are in close proximity, resulting in low fluorescence emission. In the presence of target nucleic acid, one of the probes hybridizes to the target nucleic acid, separating the two strands of the probe complex. As a consequence of this displacement, the fluorophore is separated from the quencher and fluorescence increases. Pseudocyclic oligodeoxyribonucleotides, or "Cyclicons", have been described as hybridization-based fluorescent probes [86]. Cyclicons consist of two oligonucleotides, linked at either their 5' or their 3' ends. One of the oligonucleotides is the probe sequence and the other oligonucleotide is complementary to one end of the probe sequence, forming a cyclic structure. A fluorophore is attached to one of the oligonucleotides and a quencher is attached to the other oligonucleotide. Free in solution, the cyclic structure keeps the fluorophore and quencher in close proximity. Once hybridized to a target nucleic acid, the fluorophore and quencher are separated, resulting in an increase of fluorescence. The probe sequence can also be designed to act as a primer to initiate an amplification reaction.

7. Future trends

With the development of automated methods for synthesizing nucleic acid probes, it has become much easier and more efficient to obtain large quantities of hybridization probes. Together with new, simple, and relatively inexpen-

sive methods for labeling nucleic acid probes with nonradioactive labels, doors have been opened that enable nucleic acid probes to be used for research and development, as well as for clinical diagnostic applications. The introduction of fluorescence-based hybridization probes, in particular, enables the development of homogeneous hybridization assays. The advantages of homogenous hybridization are its speed and simplicity. The kinetics of hybridization are faster in homogenous solutions than on solid surfaces, and homogenous hybridization formats are less labor intensive, as changes in the fluorescence of the probe indicate the presence of the target, and there is no need to separate unbound probes from hybridized probes. This enables hybridization to be followed in real time, providing both qualitative results and an immediate quantitative determination of the amount of target nucleic acid that was initially present in a sample over a broad range of concentrations.

As a result of the efforts of the human genome project and the rise in demand for molecular diagnostic assays, the development and optimization of novel hybridization probes has focused on speed, reliability, and accuracy in the identification of nucleic acids. High sensitivity is required to provide early diagnosis of pathogenic infections in clinical samples. This can be achieved by either direct detection of nucleic acids, in living cells or by in situ hybridization, or by detection of nucleic acids during amplification of target DNA and RNA sequences. In order to develop highthroughput assays, it is desirable to perform multiplex assays, where more than one target nucleic acid can be identified in the same solution. The development of highly specific hybridization probes is required for the identification of single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs). Some SNP alleles are the actual DNA sequence variants that cause differences in gene function or regulation that directly contribute to disease processes. Most SNP alleles, however, are not directly related to diseases, but are useful as genetic markers. These genetic markers are valuable research tools in understanding genetic differences. For example, the number of SNPs that have been identified in the human genome is approaching 3 million, and this is more than sufficient to enable linkage and association studies to be carried out across the entire genome.

Acknowledgements

Research in our laboratory on the design and use of molecular beacons is supported by National Institutes of Health grants AI-056689, EB-000277, and GM-070357.

References

- Hall BD, Spiegelman S. Sequence complementarity of T2-DNA and T2-specific RNA. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1961;47:137–46.
- [2] Bolton ET, McCarthy BJ. A general method for the isolation of RNA complementary to DNA. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1962;48:1390-7.

- [3] Nygaard AP, Hall BD. A method for the detection of RNA–DNA complexes. J Mol Biol 1963;9:125–42.
- [4] Gillespie D, Spiegelman S. A quantitative assay for DNA–RNA hybrids with DNA immobilized on a membrane. J Mol Biol 1965;12: 829–42.
- [5] Denhardt DT. A membrane-filter technique for the detection of complementary DNA. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1966;23: 641–6.
- [6] Nathans D, Smith HO. Restriction endonucleases in the analysis and restructuring of DNA molecules. Annu Rev Biochem 1975;44: 273–93.
- [7] Cohen SN, Chang AC, Boyer HW, Helling RB. Construction of biologically functional bacterial plasmids in vitro. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1973;70:3240–4.
- [8] Southern EM. Detection of specific sequences among DNA fragments separated by gel electrophoresis. Mol Microbiol 1975;98: 503–517.
- [9] Alwine JC, Kemp DJ, Parker BA, et al. Detection of specific RNAs or specific fragments of DNA by fractionation in gels and transfer to diazobenzyloxymethyl paper. Methods Enzymol 1979;68:220–42.
- [10] Maxam AM, Gilbert W. A new method for sequencing DNA. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1977;74:560–4.
- [11] Sanger F, Nicklen S, Coulson AR. DNA sequencing with chainterminating inhibitors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1977;74:5463–7.
- [12] Gall JG, Pardue ML. Formation and detection of RNA–DNA hybrid molecules in cytological preparations. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1969;63:378–83.
- [13] John HA, Birnstiel ML, Jones KW. RNA–DNA hybrids at the cytological level. Nature 1969;223:582–7.
- [14] Rudkin GT, Stollar BD. High resolution detection of DNA-RNA hybrids in situ by indirect immunofluorescence. Nature 1977;265: 472-3.
- [15] Broker TR, Angerer LM, Yen PH, Hershey ND, Davidson N. Electron microscopic visualization of tRNA genes with ferritin-avidin: biotin labels. Nucleic Acids Res 1978;5:363-84.
- [16] Bauman JG, Wiegant J, Borst P, van Duijn P. A new method for fluorescence microscopical localization of specific DNA sequences by in situ hybridization of fluorochrome labelled RNA. Exp Cell Res 1980;128:485–90.
- [17] Langer PR, Waldrop AA, Ward DC. Enzymatic synthesis of biotinlabeled polynucleotides: novel nucleic acid affinity probes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1981;78:6633–7.
- [18] Dirks RW, Van Gijlswijk RP, Tullis RH, et al. Simultaneous detection of different mRNA sequences coding for neuropeptide hormones by double in situ hybridization using FITC- and biotin-labeled oligonucleotides. J Histochem Cytochem 1990;38:467–73.
- [19] Saiki RK, Scharf S, Faloona F, et al. Enzymatic amplification of betaglobin genomic sequences and restriction site analysis for diagnosis of sickle cell anemia. Science 1985;230:1350–4.
- [20] Mullis K, Faloona F, Scharf S, Saiki R, Horn G, Erlich H. Specific enzymatic amplification of DNA in vitro: the polymerase chain reaction. Cold Spring Harbor Symp Quant Biol 1986;51: 263–273.
- [21] Walker GT, Little MC, Nadeau JG, Shank DD. Isothermal in vitro amplification of DNA by a restriction enzyme/DNA polymerase system. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1992;89:392–6.
- [22] Guatelli JC, Whitfield KM, Kwoh DY, Barringer KJ, Richman DD, Gingeras TR. Isothermal, in vitro amplification of nucleic acids by a multienzyme reaction modeled after retroviral replication. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1990;87:1874–8.
- [23] Bush CE, Donovan RM, Peterson WR, et al. Detection of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 RNA in plasma samples from highrisk pediatric patients by using the self-sustained sequence replication reaction. J Clin Microbiol 1992;30:281–6.
- [24] Wu DY, Wallace RB. The ligation amplification reaction (LAR)amplification of specific DNA sequences using sequential rounds of template-dependent ligation. Genomics 1989;4:560–9.

- [25] Tong J, Cao W, Barany F. Biochemical properties of a high fidelity DNA ligase from *Thermus* species AK16D. Nucleic Acids Res 1999; 27:788–94.
- [26] Kwok S, Higuchi R. Avoiding false positives with PCR. Nature 1989;339:237–8.
- [27] Tyagi S, Kramer FR. Molecular beacons: probes that fluoresce upon hybridization. Nat Biotechnol 1996;14:303–8.
- [28] Tyagi S, Bratu DP, Kramer FR. Multicolor molecular beacons for allele discrimination. Nat Biotechnol 1998;16:49–53.
- [29] Marras SA, Kramer FR, Tyagi S. Efficiencies of fluorescence resonance energy transfer and contact-mediated quenching in oligonucleotide probes. Nucleic Acids Res 2002;30:E122.
- [30] Dubertret B, Calame M, Libchaber AJ. Single-mismatch detection using gold-quenched fluorescent oligonucleotides. Nat Biotechnol 2001;19:365-70.
- [31] Johansson MK, Fidder H, Dick D, Cook RM. Intramolecular dimers: a new strategy to fluorescence quenching in dual-labeled oligonucleotide probes. J Am Chem Soc 2002;124:6950–6.
- [32] Vet JA, Majithia AR, Marras SA, et al. Multiplex detection of 4 pathogenic retroviruses using molecular beacons. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1999;96:6394–9.
- [33] Bonnet G, Tyagi S, Libchaber A, Kramer FR. Thermodynamic basis of the enhanced specificity of structured DNA probes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1999;96:6171–6.
- [34] Marras SA, Kramer FR, Tyagi S. Genotyping SNPs with molecular beacons. Methods Mol Biol 2003;212:111–28.
- [35] Marras SA, Kramer FR, Tyagi S. Multiplex detection of singlenucleotide variations using molecular beacons. Genet Anal 1999;14: 151-6.
- [36] Park S, Wong M, Marras SA, et al. Rapid identification of *Candida dubliniensis* using a species-specific molecular beacon. J Clin Microbiol 2000;38:2829–36.
- [37] El-Hajj HH, Marras SA, Tyagi S, Kramer FR, Alland D. Detection of rifampin resistance in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* in a single tube with molecular beacons. J Clin Microbiol 2001;39:4131–7.
- [38] Kostrikis LG, Tyagi S, Mhlanga MM, Ho DD, Kramer FR. Spectral genotyping of human alleles. Science 1998;279:1228–9.
- [39] Manganelli R, Dubnau E, Tyagi S, Kramer FR, Smith I. Differential expression of 10 sigma factor genes in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. Mol Microbiol 1999;31:715–24.
- [40] Weusten JJ, Carpay WM, Oosterlaken TA, Van Zuijlen MC, Van de Wiel PA. Principles of quantitation of viral loads using nucleic acid sequence-based amplification in combination with homogeneous detection using molecular beacons. Nucleic Acids Res 2002; 30:E26.
- [41] Nilsson M, Gullberg M, Dahl F, Szuhai K, Raap AK. Real-time monitoring of rolling-circle amplification using a modified molecular beacon design. Nucleic Acids Res 2002;30:E66.
- [42] Zhang W, Cohenford M, Lentrichia B, et al. Detection of *Chlamydia trachomatis* by isothermal ramification amplification method: a feasibility study. J Clin Microbiol 2002;40:128–32.
- [43] Tyagi S, Alsmadi O. Imaging native beta-actin mRNA in motile fibroblasts. Biophys J 2004;87:4153–62.
- [44] Bratu DP, Cha BJ, Mhlanga MM, Kramer FR, Tyagi S. Visualizing the distribution and transport of mRNAs in living cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2003;100:13308–13.
- [45] Li JJ, Geyer R, Tan W. Using molecular beacons as a sensitive fluorescence assay for enzymatic cleavage of single-stranded DNA. Nucleic Acids Res 2000;28:E52.
- [46] Strouse RJ, Hakki FZ, Wang SC, DeFusco AW, Garrett JL, Schenerman MA. Using molecular beacons to quantify low levels of type I endonuclease activity. Biopharm 2000;13:40–7.
- [47] Tung CH, Mahmood U, Bredow S, Weissleder R. In vivo imaging of proteolytic enzyme activity using a novel molecular reporter. Cancer Res 2000;60:4953–8.
- [48] Stojanovic MN, de Prada P, Landry DW. Catalytic molecular beacons. Chembiochem Eur J Chem Biol 2001;2:411-5.

- [49] Marras SA, Gold B, Kramer FR, Smith I, Tyagi S. Real-time measurement of in vitro transcription. Nucleic Acids Res 2004;32: E72.
- [50] Antony T, Thomas T, Sigal LH, Shirahata A, Thomas TJ. A molecular beacon strategy for the thermodynamic characterization of triplex DNA: triplex formation at the promoter region of cyclin D1. Biochemistry 2001;40:9387–95.
- [51] Jovine L. New molecular beacons for targeting double-stranded DNA under native conditions. Trends Biotechnol 2001;19:487–8.
- [52] Darby RA, Sollogoub M, McKeen C, et al. High throughput measurement of duplex, triplex and quadruplex melting curves using molecular beacons and a LightCycler. Nucleic Acids Res 2002; 30:E39.
- [53] Fang X, Li JJ, Tan W. Using molecular beacons to probe molecular interactions between lactate dehydrogenase and single-stranded DNA. Anal Chem 2000;72:3280-5.
- [54] Li JJ, Fang XH, Schuster SM, Tan WH. Molecular beacons: a novel approach to detect protein–DNA interactions. Angew Chem Int Ed 2000;39:1049–52.
- [55] Lindquist JN, Kauschke SG, Stefanovic B, Burchardt ER, Brenner DA. Characterization of the interaction between alphaCP(2) and the 3'-untranslated region of collagen alpha1(I) mRNA. Nucleic Acids Res 2000;28:4306–16.
- [56] Bar-Ziv R, Libchaber A. Effects of DNA sequence and structure on binding of RecA to single-stranded DNA. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2001;98:9068–73.
- [57] Yamamoto R, Baba T, Kumar PK. Molecular beacon aptamer fluoresces in the presence of Tat protein of HIV-1. Genes Cells 2000;5:389–96.
- [58] Hamaguchi N, Ellington A, Stanton M. Aptamer beacons for the direct detection of proteins. Anal Biochem 2001;294:126–31.
- [59] Liu X, Tan W. A fiber-optic evanescent wave DNA biosensor based on novel molecular beacons. Anal Chem 1999;71:5054–9.
- [60] Steemers FJ, Ferguson JA, Walt DR. Screening unlabeled DNA targets with randomly ordered fiber-optic gene arrays. Nat Biotechnol 2000;18:91–4.
- [61] Li J, Tan W, Wang K, et al. Ultrasensitive optical DNA biosensor based on surface immobilization of molecular beacons by a bridge structure. Anal Sci 2001;17:1149–53.
- [62] Wang H, Li J, Liu H, et al. Label-free hybridization detection of a single nucleotide mismatch by immobilization of molecular beacons on an agarose film. Nucleic Acids Res 2002;30:E61.
- [63] Cardullo RA, Agrawal S, Flores C, Zamecnik PC, Wolf DE. Detection of nucleic acid hybridization by nonradiative fluorescence resonance energy transfer. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1988;85:8790–4.
- [64] Haugland RP, Yguerabide J, Stryer L. Dependence of the kinetics of singlet-singlet energy transfer on spectral overlap. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1969;63:23–30.
- [65] Wittwer CT, Herrmann MG, Moss AA, Rasmussen RP. Continuous fluorescence monitoring of rapid cycle DNA amplification. BioTechniques 1997;22:130–1.
- [66] Tsuji A, Koshimoto H, Sato Y, et al. Direct observation of specific messenger RNA in a single living cell under a fluorescence microscope. Biophys J 2000;78:3260–74.
- [67] Holland PM, Abramson RD, Watson R, Gelfand DH. Detection of specific polymerase chain reaction product by utilizing the 5'-3' exonuclease activity of *Thermus aquaticus* DNA polymerase. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1991;88:7276–80.
- [68] Livak KJ, Flood SJ, Marmaro J, Giusti W, Deetz K. Oligonucleotides with fluorescent dyes at opposite ends provide a quenched probe system useful for detecting PCR product and nucleic acid hybridization. PCR Methods Appl 1995;4:357–62.
- [69] Livak KJ. Allelic discrimination using fluorogenic probes and the 5' nuclease assay. Genet Anal 1999;14:143–9.
- [70] Petrik J, Pearson GJ, Allain JP. High throughput PCR detection of HCV based on semiautomated multisample RNA capture. J Virol Methods 1997;64:147–59.

- [71] Kutyavin IV, Afonina IA, Mills A, et al. 3'-Minor groove binder-DNA probes increase sequence specificity at PCR extension temperatures. Nucleic Acids Res 2000;28:655–61.
- [72] Svanvik N, Westman G, Wang D, Kubista M. Light-up probes: thiazole orange-conjugated peptide nucleic acid for detection of target nucleic acid in homogeneous solution. Anal Biochem 2000;281:26–35.
- [73] Nygren J, Svanvik N, Kubista M. The interactions between the fluorescent dye thiazole orange and DNA. Biopolymers 1998;46: 39-51.
- [74] Nielsen PE, Egholm M, Berg RH, Buchardt O. Sequence-selective recognition of DNA by strand displacement with a thymine-substituted polyamide. Science 1991;254:1497–500.
- [75] Svanvik N, Stahlberg A, Sehlstedt U, Sjoback R, Kubista M. Detection of PCR products in real-time using light-up probes. Anal Biochem 2000;287:179–82.
- [76] Privat E, Melvin T, Asseline U, Vigny P. Oligonucleotide-conjugated thiazole orange probes as "light-up" probes for messenger ribonucleic acid molecules in living cells. Photochem Photobiol 2001;74: 532–41.
- [77] Whitcombe D, Theaker J, Guy SP, Brown T, Little S. Detection of PCR products using self-probing amplicons and fluorescence. Nat Biotechnol 1999;17:804–7.
- [78] Solinas A, Brown LJ, McKeen C, et al. Duplex Scorpion primers in SNP analysis and FRET applications. Nucleic Acids Res 2001;29: E96.

- [79] Huang Y, Kong D, Yang Y, Niu R, Shen H, Mi H. Real-time quantitative assay of telomerase activity using the duplex scorpion primer. Biotechnol Lett 2004;26:891–5.
- [80] Nazarenko IA, Bhatnagar SK, Hohman RJ. A closed tube format for amplification and detection of DNA based on energy transfer. Nucleic Acids Res 1997;25:2516–21.
- [81] Nazarenko I, Lowe B, Darfler M, Ikonomi P, Schuster D, Rashtchian A. Multiplex quantitative PCR using self-quenched primers labeled with a single fluorophore. Nucleic Acids Res 2002;30:E37.
- [82] Pickering J, Bamford A, Godbole V, et al. Integration of DNA ligation and rolling circle amplification for the homogeneous, end-point detection of single nucleotide polymorphisms. Nucleic Acids Res 2002;30:E60.
- [83] Nadeau JG, Pitner JB, Linn CP, Schram JL, Dean CH, Nycz CM. Real-time, sequence-specific detection of nucleic acids during strand displacement amplification. Anal Biochem 1999;276:177–87.
- [84] French DJ, Archard CL, Brown T, McDowell DG. HyBeacon probes: a new tool for DNA sequence detection and allele discrimination. Mol Cell Probes 2001;15:363–74.
- [85] Li Q, Luan G, Guo Q, Liang J. A new class of homogeneous nucleic acid probes based on specific displacement hybridization. Nucleic Acids Res 2002;30:E5.
- [86] Kandimalla ER, Agrawal S. "Cyclicons" as hybridization-based fluorescent primer-probes: synthesis, properties and application in real-time PCR. Bioorg Med Chem 2000;8:1911–6.